FILED
Sep 30, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 72093-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

LOVETT CHAMBERS,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Theresa Doyle, Judge The Honorable Michael Hayden, Judge The Honorable Jim Rogers, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID B. KOCH Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. A trial court may not instruct jurors on a lesser included offense unless the evidence raises an inference that only the lesser crime was committed. Appellant was charged with murder. He claimed self-defense. The evidence showed that he intentionally used deadly force against another individual, killing him, after that individual threatened him with deadly force. The only proper issue for the jury was whether appellant used intentional deadly force in self-defense. Yet, the court instructed jurors on manslaughter based on a theory appellant may have recklessly caused the individual's death. Did the trial court err?
- 2. Following his arrest, appellant invoked his right to silence under Miranda¹ several times. Law enforcement must "scrupulously honor" the right to cut off questioning and may not

Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966).

reinitiate discussions with an arrestee unless a significant period of time has passed. Did detectives violate these protections where, despite appellant's multiple invocations of his right to silence, they brought him to headquarters for interrogation and waited less than 45 minutes following appellant's last invocation before attempting to convince him to talk?

- 3. In finding no violation of appellant's <u>Miranda</u> rights, the trial court entered several findings and conclusions that are not supported by the evidence or the applicable law. Are these findings and conclusions erroneous?
- 4. Appellant was arrested outside his home. Without a warrant, officers then entered his home to conduct a "protective sweep" and searched all rooms. In the kitchen, they found critical evidence, used that evidence to obtain a search warrant, and then seized that very evidence under authority of the warrant. Where officers were not permitted to conduct the initial "protective sweep," should all fruits of that unlawful search have been suppressed?
- 5. In upholding the warrantless search of appellant's home, the trial court entered several conclusions that are not supported by the applicable law. Are these conclusions erroneous?

- 6. During the videotaped deposition of a prosecution witness unavailable for trial, appellant was restrained in chains and cuffs, making it impossible to take notes, review discovery, or effectively communicate with his attorneys. Was this a violation of appellant's rights under the Sixth Amendment and article 1, section 22 of the Washington Constitution?
- 7. It is serious misconduct to personally attack defense counsel or impugn counsel's character as a means of convincing jurors to convict. During closing argument, and over defense objections, the deputy prosecutor told jurors that the defense had made race an issue in the case to "pander" to their prejudices, cloud their judgment, and convince them to ignore their "rational thought processes." The deputy prosecutor also told jurors they should not be "fooled" by defense efforts and accused counsel of attempting an "equity defense," where appellant's life is weighed against the victim's life as a racist to decide guilt. Did this misconduct deny appellant a fair trial?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

The King County Prosecutor's Office charged Lovett

Chambers with one count of Murder in the First Degree in

connection with the death of Michael Hood. CP 1-7. Prosecutors later reduced the charge to Murder in the Second Degree, alleging two alternative theories: (1) that Chambers intentionally killed Hood or (2) that Chambers intentionally assaulted Hood, resulting in his death. The charge included a firearm sentencing enhancement. Supp. CP ____ (sub no. 94, Amended Information). Chambers admitted the killing, but claimed self-defense. CP 871-874.

Near the close of evidence, the State proposed instructions on Manslaughter in the First Degree. Supp. CP ___ (sub no. 228, State's Instructions to the Jury (instructions 15-18)). The defense objected, arguing there was no factual basis for such instructions because there was no evidence Hood's death was attributable merely to reckless conduct. Rather, Hood died because Chambers intentionally shot him while fearing for his own life. CP 1726-1735; 44RP 30-40. The defense objection was overruled. 44RP² 40; 45RP 3-4.

 $^{^2}$ This brief refers to the verbatim report of proceedings as follows: 1RP - 1/7/14 (9 pages); 2RP - 1/7/14 (139 pages); 3RP - 1/8/14; 4RP - 1/9/14; 5RP - 1/13/14; 6RP - 1/14/14; 7RP - 1/15/14; 8RP - 1/16/14; 9RP - 1/21/14; 10RP - 1/22/14; 11RP - 1/23/14; 12RP - 1/27/14; 13RP - 1/28/14; 14RP - 1/29/14; 15RP - 1/30/14; 16RP - 1/31/14; 17RP - 2/3/14; 18RP - 2/10/14; 19RP - 2/11/14; 20RP - 2/12/14; 21RP - 2/13/14; 22RP - 2/18/14; 23RP - 2/19/14; 24RP - 2/20/14; 25RP - 2/24/14; 26RP - 2/25/14; 27RP - 2/26/14; 28RP - 2/27/14; 29RP - 3/3/14; 30RP - 3/4/14; 31RP - 3/5/14; 32RP - 3/6/14; 33RP - 3/10/14; 34RP - 3/11/14; 35RP - 3/12/14; 36RP - 3/13/14; 37RP - 3/19/14; 38RP - 3/20/14; 39RP - 3/24/14; 40RP - 3/25/14; 41RP - 3/26/14; 42RP -

Jurors were unable to reach a verdict on Murder in the Second Degree, but found Chambers guilty of Manslaughter in the First Degree and answered "yes" to whether he had been armed with a firearm. CP 1774-1775, 1805.

Chambers moved to set aside the verdicts on multiple grounds. See CP 1806-1827. The motion was denied. 49RP 34-35. The Honorable Theresa Doyle imposed a low-end standard range sentence of 78 months, plus a mandatory 60-month term on the firearm enhancement, for a total sentence of 138 months. CP 1257, 1259. Chambers timely filed his Notice of Appeal. CP 2283-2292.

2. Substantive Facts

In January 2012, 67-year-old Lovett Chambers and his wife, Sara, lived in the West Seattle home they had shared since 1993. 29RP 167; 42RP 71-72, 153. Chambers ran an IT business from a home office and, on January 21, 2012, received word that he had been awarded a contract that could provide years of income and establish his company in the field. He was elated. 42RP 74, 79-81, 163-164.

3/31/14; 43RP - 4/1/14; 44RP - 4/2/14 (a.m.); 45RP - 4/2/14 (p.m.); 46RP - 4/3/14; 47RP - 4/4/14; 48RP - 4/8/14; 49RP - 6/13/14.

Chambers and many of his friends frequented the Feedback Lounge, a West Seattle bar featuring rock memorabilia and classic cocktails. 24RP 17-18, 29-30; 42RP 161-162. The evening of January 21, Chambers drove to the Feedback, which is located on the west side of California Ave. 24RP 49; exhibits 3, 6. North of the Feedback on California Ave., just beyond a cross street, is another bar, the Beveridge Place. 24RP 50-51; exhibits 3, 6. Chambers parked his car by the Beveridge Place, on the west side of California Ave. facing south, before walking farther south and heading into the Feedback. 25RP 55-56, 80-81; 40RP 69; 42RP 168-169; exhibit 3.

Chambers, whom many of the servers and staff knew as "Cid," was well liked at the Feedback Lounge and described as mellow, a very good customer, and a very nice guy. 24RP 31, 41, 52-54, 71-72, 93, 104. His preferred drink was a vodka martini. 24RP 30, 53. And to the extent anything negative could be said about Chambers, it was that he could be "particular" about such things as the lighting, the music, or the glass in which a drink was served. 24RP 31-32, 71-72, 85-86, 102-103. On the evening of January 21, none of the servers or other staff at the Feedback

reported seeing any issues with Chambers. 24RP 42, 72-73, 93-94; 25RP 27.

Chambers did have more to drink than usual that evening. 24RP 83; 25RP 24-25; 42RP 177. He had multiple martinis and a single shot of alcohol purchased by a friend. 24RP 30-31, 81-82; 25RP 23; 40RP 72-73, 82. He also had a beer before arriving. 42RP 167. But no one who saw him that night – friend or bar staff – believed he was significantly impaired when he left for home. 24RP 83, 104-105; 40RP 73, 83-84. Chambers was in a good mood, laughing, talking, and even more relaxed than usual. 24RP 84; 25RP 25; 42RP 177. The bartender who served Chambers his final drink could tell he had been drinking, but was still comfortable serving him. 24RP 81, 104-105.

Chambers recognized he had consumed a significant amount of alcohol and wanted to get home before he began to feel its full effect. 42RP 177-178. He remained clearheaded at that point, however, and his perceptions and judgment were still intact. 42RP 178; 43RP 156.

Among the approximately 150 patrons at the Feedback that night were two Seattle transplants who had recently moved here

from the South – Jonathan Vause and Travis Hood. 24RP 94; 27RP 17-22.

Vause – who even prosecutors described as "a piece of work" – is a self-described "southern boy." 27RP 17; 28RP 139; 46RP 34. He also is a former heroin dealer and two-time convicted felon. 27RP 36-38, 147-148. In 2010, Vause fled North Carolina in violation of his probation, resulting in a warrant for his arrest. 27RP 39-41. Although Vause was not supposed to be in Washington, he was drawn here by the state's progressive marijuana laws. 27RP 39-40. In January 2012, he typically smoked two to four grams of marijuana daily. 27RP 35.

Vause is white, but he frequently employs the word "nigga," which he describes as a term of endearment. 27RP 73-76; 28RP 128-129. He denies being a racist, noting he has probably slept with more black women than white women. 28RP 122-123. And although he understands "nigga" might be construed as an insult in Seattle, he believes the First Amendment protects his right to use the word anywhere he wants. 28RP 128-129, 135.

Hood, also white, was similarly comfortable with the word "nigga" and comfortable with the related word "nigger," the repeated use of which had previously resulted in trouble at another

West Seattle bar, the Rocksport. 27RP 78; 28RP 138-143; 40RP 189. At the Rocksport, Hood, in Vause's presence, repeatedly and loudly used the word "nigger" and continued to do so even after a server told him to stop. 40RP 189-191. A few weeks later, Hood and Vause returned to the Rocksport and Hood again repeatedly used the word "nigger" as he spoke. 40RP 191-192. Hood asked the server to play some "nigger music," which Vause found funny and the server found extremely disturbing. 27RP 77-80; 28RP 138-141; 40RP 192-193.

On January 21, 2012, Vause and Hood consumed beer and marijuana before arriving at the Feedback Lounge, where they each had two additional beers. 25RP 19; 27RP 46-48, 71-72. Vause and Hood were seated in a back room of the bar and Vause saw Chambers walk by on his way to the restroom. 24RP 19-26, 37; 25RP 16-17; 27RP 58-59, 70; exhibit 5. Vause noticed that Chambers was tall, black, and had a "big structure." 27RP 68, 188-191. He saw Chambers talking to a young woman, whom he was fairly certain was white, although with all the "multicultured and mixed races" in Seattle, Vause could not be certain of her race. 27RP 68-70, 191. It did not appear that Chambers noticed Vause because the two never made eye contact. 27RP 68, 82, 188, 191.

What happened when Chambers left the Feedback that evening was disputed at trial. According to Chambers, as he left the bar and headed north up the sidewalk on California Ave., toward his car, Vause and Hood followed and directed racial epithets at him. 42RP 178-179. He had not noticed either man inside the bar and had no idea why they had targeted him. 42RP 176-177. But they were calling him a nigger and much worse in their southern accents. 42RP 179.

Chambers decided not to confront the men, whom he assumed were drunk, and continued toward his car. 42RP 179-180. Chambers left the sidewalk and walked on California Ave. until he reached his BMW. 42RP 180. He then placed the key in the door lock and twisted it, unlocking both the driver and passenger doors. 42RP 181. Chambers got in the driver's seat but, as he started to put on his seatbelt, Vause opened the passenger door. 42RP 182. Vause also reached toward his waistband, and it appeared to Chambers that he had a knife. 42RP 182. Chambers quickly reached over and pulled the door shut. 42RP 182. Hood then began banging on the trunk lid. 42RP 184, 187.

Chambers felt panicked and wondered if he was being robbed or, given what the men had said to him, perhaps targeted because of his race. 42RP 183. Chambers tried to start his car, but believes he twisted the key too hard, triggering the car's antitheft system and preventing the engine from starting. 42RP 184. Chambers also hit a button on the center console that locks the doors, but it does not work if a door is partially ajar and did not work at that moment. 37RP 68; 42RP 185-186. Chambers was not sure whether the passenger door was completely closed. 42RP 186.

Chambers felt vulnerable inside his unlocked car and ill positioned to fend off a possible knife attack. He grabbed a loaded .45 caliber pistol he kept under the passenger seat, placed it in his waistband, and exited the car, walking farther north on California Ave. away from the men and toward a section of the street with better lighting. 42RP 187-188, 191-196. The safety on the firearm was engaged. 42RP 192.

Chambers was extremely concerned because he had lost sight of Vause, whom he believed had a knife; he could only see Hood. 42RP 193. Hood was on east side of the sidewalk, walking parallel to Chambers as Chambers walked on the west side of the

same sidewalk, and still shouting racist comments. 42RP 194, 196-197. It felt as though Hood was trying to distract Chambers, who feared Vause was going to ambush him from behind. 42RP 195-196.

As Chambers and Hood reached a red pickup truck parked north of the BMW, Hood suddenly reached into the bed of the truck and pulled out a flat-headed shovel. 30RP 72; 42RP 198-199; exhibits 3, 36. Unbeknownst to Chambers, this was Vause's truck. 27RP 51; 42RP 199. Hood faced Chambers and – with a look of rage – held the shovel up in a batter's stance and threatened, "now I'm going to knock your nigger head off." 42RP 199. Chambers believed he was about to be killed. 42RP 200.

Chambers does not recall anything at the scene thereafter. 42RP 201. Other witnesses, however, established that, once Hood raised the shovel, Chambers jumped back from Hood and immediately pulled out his .45 caliber pistol, firing three times without hesitation and in very rapid succession. 27RP 110-112; 28RP 96-97, 102, 152-153; 30RP 53-58, 75-78; exhibit 9 at 3:11:23-3:14:26. Hood still had the shovel in his hands as he turned and fell into the cab of the pickup truck. 28RP 104, 163-164. According to witnesses, Chambers put his gun away inside

his jacket, calmly walked back to his car, sat in the driver's seat for a short time (possibly looking at his phone), and then drove away. 25RP 52-58, 94; 27RP 112-113; 30RP 64-68; exhibit 9 at 3:19:43-3:20:13; 3:23:36-3:25:56; 3:49:05-3:49:37.

Vause provided a different version of events leading up to Hood's use of the shovel. He conceded he smokes a lot of weed and has difficulty remembering some details now years after the event. 28RP 90. But he denied following Chambers that night, denied making racist remarks, and denied opening the passenger door to Chambers' car. 27RP 86-101, 127-128. According to Vause, whatever the dispute, it arose between Hood and Chambers and he did not know what it was about. 27RP 102-111, 129-130.

Vause maintained that Chambers was standing outside the Feedback Lounge as he and Hood exited the bar. 27RP 87-89, 194. Initially, he and Hood walked north together toward his red pickup truck. 27RP 93. But as they passed the cross street just beyond the Feedback Lounge, Hood turned left (heading west) while Vause continued north on California Ave. 27RP 93-96; exhibit 49. When Vause noticed Hood's direction of travel, he said,

"what the hell you doing, nigga, the truck's down here." 27RP 96.

Hood corrected his course, but Vause did not wait for him, proceeding to the truck and arriving there first. 27RP 97-98.

According to Vause, he entered the driver's side of the pickup and unlocked the passenger door. 27RP 100. The truck was parked behind a large van, obscuring Vause's view of Hood as Hood approached. 27RP 98-99. Hood came into view on the passenger side about two seconds later with Chambers walking six to eight feet behind him. 27RP 101, 103. Hood turned his head and said something over his shoulder to Chambers. 27RP 103-104. Hood opened the passenger door before grabbing a shovel from the truck bed. He then assumed a batter's stance and said something like "back up off me, mother fucker" or "what are you trying to do?" 27RP 110; 28RP 80-83, 167-168, 173.

Vause conceded that Chambers absolutely could have concluded Hood was about to strike him with the shovel. 28RP 150-152. Vause compared Chambers' reaction to a hiker that stumbles upon a large rattlesnake. Chambers flailed his arms and jumped backwards two or three steps before pulling out his pistol.

Although at trial Vause maintained there was nothing wrong with the word "nigga," when speaking to police about what happened, he chose to replace "nigga" with a less offensive pronoun or to simply omit a pronoun. 28RP 16-22.

27RP 110-111; 28RP 149-152. Vause heard Hood say, "nigga, watch out, he's got a gun" and saw him begin to turn toward the door opening as Chambers quickly fired three shots.⁴ 27RP 111; 28RP 152. Vause estimated that less than a second elapsed between Hood raising the shovel and Chambers firing his gun. 28RP 153. According to Vause, Chambers then put his gun in his jacket and casually walked away, a walk Vause would later describe as "a slow '80's pimp style walk." 27RP 112-113; 28RP 108-109.

Hood sustained three gunshot wounds: one that entered near the upper middle abdomen, one to the far right middle back, and one to the far right upper back. 34RP 155-160; exhibit 142. It was not possible to determine the order of the injuries. 34RP 160, 196. The shot that entered at Hood's abdominal area entered at an angle, did not penetrate his body cavity, travelled under the skin, exited, and then entered the back of his left arm (tricep muscle) before once again exiting. 34RP 157-159, 178, 191-192. This particular wound was not lethal and could have spun Hood around

Vause similarly cleaned up this statement when speaking to police and a prosecutor, trading "nigga" for less racist language. 28RP 80-87. In fact, Vause had been asked directly at that time whether Hood used the word "nigga" at any point that night, and Vause said "no, no, no, no, not at all." 28RP 87, 173.

from his original position. 34RP 170, 178-179. The angle of this shot and resulting injuries were consistent with a left-handed batter's stance (right hip and right shoulder toward Chambers). 34RP 191-192, 199-200, 213, 224. One possibility is that Hood was originally in this stance when shot, he then rotated to his left, thereby exposing the right side of his back for the two immediately successive shots. 34RP 210-213. These two shots — which lacerated Hood's liver and severed a major artery — were straight on from back to front. 34RP 171-179. Hood did not survive. 29RP 63; 34RP 193.

Police were dispatched at 9:42 p.m. in response to 911 calls regarding the incident. 25RP 125. At the scene, they found in close proximity the shell casings, a spent round, blood, and the shovel Hood had used to threaten Chambers. 25RP 113, 117; 26RP 130, 175-176; exhibits 20, 36. Based on a description of Chambers, his car, and a partial license plate number, officers obtained an address for his residence, which was about a mile from the scene. 24RP 59-60, 94-96; 25RP 27-28, 117-118, 146, 154-155, 160-161; 37RP12-13. Chambers was cooperative and arrested there without incident at 10:49 p.m., about an hour after

the shooting. 29RP 90-92, 111, 162. He was "a little bit out of it," but it was unclear whether this was attributable to alcohol consumption or the shock of what he had experienced. 29RP 92, 115-116. Sara also was home and did not know her husband had been involved in a shooting. 29RP 117-120. When her husband arrived home, he had poured himself a large glass of wine and, for the most part, just sat quietly. 42RP 101.

Officers found Chambers' gun right next to his car keys on a kitchen table. 29RP 93; exhibit 116. A firearms expert determined that the shell casings and spent round collected at the scene had been fired from this gun. 36RP 120-121.

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