A. CROSS ASSIGN1dIENT OF ERROR

The trial court erred when, in ruling on the defendant's motion to

suppress the deposition of witness Brian Knight, the court felt that where

there was an absence of evidence, the court was required to presume that

the defendant did not have the ability to write. No facts support the

presumption.

B. ISSUES PRESEle1TED

1. The defendant ~~as charged with second-degree murder and

convicted offirst-degree manslaughter. Was there a factual basis for the

trial court to give a lesser included jury instruction for first-degree

manslaughter?

2. Was the trial court correct in finding that the defendant

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

of linked chain. Id. at 6.

On January 7, 201 ~, the defense told the court they would be

moving to exclude Knight's deposition because the defendant was not able

communicate with counse?: during the deposition. 2RP 42-43. The
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defense told the court that, +.he defendant "could baNel take notes," and

that there ~~vere only 5 or 6 links of chain between his belly chains and his

wrists. 2RP 36-37 (emphasis added). He also stated, for the very first

time, that there was a microphone on the table and therefore the defendant

could not lean over and as?~ him questions. 2RP 38. He asserted that the

defendant could not move because the chains rattled and would be heard

on the video. 2RP 38. In ~ response that did not really address trP court

concern that defense counsel never raised this issue a1; the time, counsel

said that he did not raise tris issue before because "it happened d~:ring the

deposition." 2RP 43.

The prosecutor res;~onded that the microphone could have peen

moved [or turned offJ, and that all defense counsel had to do if they

needed to have a discussio:~ between counsel and the defendant was to ask

for a break. 2RP 45-46. The prosecutor also said that it was her

observations that the defendant could talk with counsel and that he could

hold documents. 2RP 46. The court reserved ruling on the motion.

2RP 51. The motion was subsequently heard vy Judge James Ropers,

apparently because the trial judge had some sort of conflict. 16Rr 5.

Before Judge Roge~~s, defense counsel asserted that you could hear

chains jingling in many places on the video and you could hear defense

counsel whispering to the defendant to not move because it made the chain
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rattle. 16RP 12-13. Other than the video of the deposition being provided

to the court, no evidence or testimony was presented Uy the defendant.

The prosecutor offered to bring in a pair of belly chains for the

court and also offered to provide testimony under oath. 16RP 29, 31. The

prosecutor described that the defendant was wearing a waist chain,

attached to the waist chain were two 8 inch lengths of linked chain that

were then attached to handcuffs that went around the defendant's wrist.

16RP 29. The prosecutor informed the court that in her opinion, the

defendant could write on a tablet and that she observed him at the

deposition holding papers. 16RP 29-30. The prosecutor also informed the

court that she could not he:Ar any chains jingling o~ the video. 16RP 33.

She again stated that the microphones could easily have been moved or

turned off. 16RP 38-39.

Judge Rogers noted that there were disputed facts as to what the

defendant could and could not do. 16RP 30. The judge did note that

Judge Hayden certainly believed that the defendant had the ability to take

notes. 16RP 30. The court stated that there was a "factual dispute" about

whether the defendant had the ability to take notes but that "on this record,

I cannot resolve the issue." 16RP 51. Inexplicably, the. court then stated

that "therefore, I decide that I must assume that 1V~r. Chambers could not

write for the purposes of tfiis motion." 16RP 48.
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In regards to the issue of the microphones and the fact. that defense

counsel never either objected to the microphone or did anything to

alleviate the alleged problem, the court declined to rule whether the issue

had been waived or invite.: 16RP 53. Instead, Judge Rogers noted that

he listened to the video and he never heard anything that sounded like

chains and never heard an;~one tell the defendant not to move. 16RP

51-52.22 Moreo~Ter; the court noted that the issue of the microphones was

totally under the defense control, the issue would have existed whether the

defendant was in restraints or not, the microphones could have been

m~:ted, moved or the proceedings stopped at any time, just like at trial,

16P~P 25, 55. Because the defendant had this ability to control

communications, the court found that the defendant's rights were not

violated. 16RP 55.

Tre deposition was played for the jury and the transcript provided

as an aid when listening to the deposition. 24RP 130-31; trial exhibit 9;

CP 1598-99.

22 The trial judge, Judge Theresa Doyle, also listened to the video and even when
provided with the specific places the defense said you could hear the sound of chains, she

stated that she could not hear anything that sounded like chins. 24RP 111-16, 121-22.

In an abundance of caution, the court allowed the defense to seek redaction of any portion

of the video wherein they believed chains could be heard. 16RP 33. The State had a

video company remove all sound coming from any of the irt~.erophones that were in the

courtroom except for the microphone on the witness stand. 24RP 5.
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b. The Defendant's Rights Were Not Violated

The defendant begins his legal argument by citing to cases

discussing the constitutionwl principle that under article I, section 22,23 and

the Sixth Amendment, a clPfenc~ant has a right to appear before a jury free

from physical restraints. D~~f br. at 61 (citing, e.g., State v. Williams, 18

Wash. 47, 51, 50 P. 580 (1397) (Washington adopted the common law

=:rule that accused persons s?.could not be manacled before t'~P jury mast the

jury believe that the judge is of th.e opinion the accused person is

dangerous). The reliance upon this legal principle is misgui~Ed for a

number of reasons.

First, the defendant cites to State v. Walker,24 for the proposition

that this constitutional legzl principle applies to all court proceedings.

Def. br. at 61-62. Howeve., the defendant fails to show that this legal

principle applies to a deposition which is not a court proceeding.

Walker involved.trepropriety of defendan*s being shackled at

sentencing hearings. The court held that a trial court does possess the

inherent power to detei~rnii~e whether a:~d in what manner restrains may

be used at any "court proc:~eding.". Walker, at 797. Ho«ever, the court

z3 Article I, section 22 provides, "In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right
to appear and defend in person."

z̀ ~ 185 Wn. App. 790, 344 P,3d 227, rev. denied, 183 Wn.2d 1025 (2015).
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specifica?ly declined to hold that article I, section 22 applies to ot'~er court

proceedings other than trial. Id.

Pursuant to CrR 4.6, the taking of a deposi*ion in a criminal case is

governed by the civil rules, primarily CR 30 and CR 32. The taking of a

deposition is not a court proceeding. See Tacoma News, Inc. v. Cayce,

172 ~~Jn.2d 58, 256 P.3d 1179 (2011). There is no judge, no jury, no

bailiff, no court clerk and t~ze deposition need not occur in a courtroom,

although it did in this case for the convenience of the parties and t11e jail.

In Tacoma News, tie State obtained' an order for a preservation

deposition of a key State's witness in a criminal case. The deposition was

held in a courtroom with Judge James Cayce agreeing to preside over the

deposition. Judge Cayce, however, closed the courtroom to the public and

the press. Tacoma News u:sserted that the preservation deposition was a

judicial proceeding and that under the State constitution, the deposition

must be open to the public. The Supreme Court lied otherwise. The

Court noted that there may certainly be objections to the admissibility of

the deposition at trial, but';he taking of a' deposition itself is not a court or

judicial proceeding. Tacoma News, at 65-69. In short, the defendant here

fails to show that Williams -and Walker apply to the taking of Knight's

deposition.
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Equally problematic for the defendant is the fact that the jury never

saw him; either in person or on video, while he was shackled. A claim of

,: unconstitutional shackling is subject to harmless error. State v.

Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d 863, 888, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998). To succeed on

such a claim, a defendant "must show the shackling had a substar..tial or

injurious effect or influence on the jury's verdict. Because the jury never

saw the defendant in shackles, lle cannot show prejudice." Id. Tile same

is trae here.

Moreover, even under Walker, where it was held that trial courts

have inherent authority to regulate the use of restraints at "court

proceedin;s" other than trials, the court noted that "because in the absence

of a jury the dangers [of a defendant appearing in restraints] are not as

substantial as those preserved at trial, a lesser showing than that required

at trial xs appropriate." Walker, at 799 (citing People v. Fierro, 1 Ca1.4
tn

173, 219-20, 821 P.2d 13C'2 (1991), cert. denied, 506 U.~. 907 (1992)) .

In other words, the right to be free from restraints, if it exists at x.11 in a

non-court proceeding, mad yield to the interest of ~ourtrootn safety,

security and decorum witl: a minimal showing. ~Ialker, at 800. i hus,

while ~t "showing may be~:::sufficient to justify shuclding a defendant in

the presence of the jury, ir_ light of the lesser sho~~ving required...in a

non jury getting," the evidence need not be as substantial. Id.
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Here, while the def;,ndant discounts or attempts to excuse his prior

violent and criminal conduct; the facts are real. He had spent.a large.

portion of his life in prison for committing multiple armed robberies,

kidnapping, and other violent offenses. He had escaped from custody in.

the past and had used force to effectuate that escape.

At the time of the current crime, the defendant had a fireaam at his

disposal and at the time of ,Zis arrest. With multiple prior felony

convictions, the defendant could not lawfully possess a firearm, but he did

so in spite of the law. He also was being accused of firing three shots into

a man he had never met before and killing him. He then fled the scene

even though he would. later claim he acted legally in self-defense. While

the defendant argued his c~~victions occurred long ago and he was now

old and had medical issues, his current actions of disregarding the law by

possessing a firearm, and his fleeing from the scene, certainly raises

questions about his thought process and willingness to comport his

behavior with the law.

It is true, maybe a :•easonable judge could have found othei~vvise,

but considering that the pe+ential prejudice inherent in a jury or courtroom

~roceedin~ was not presen+, the. defendant cannot show tli~.t Judge Hayden

abused his discretion in denying his motion to be at the depositioi: restraint

free. This is also true considering that Judge Hayden ord~re~ that the

~S.'~

1602-9 Chambers COA



restraints be such that the defendant could take notes and not infringe on

his constitutional rights.

The trial court's decision concerning restraints is reviewed under

an abuse of discretion start yard. Walker, at 799 (citing State v. Finch, 137

Wn.2d 792, 846, 975 P.2d X67 (1999)). An appel~ate court finds abuse of

discretion only "when no reasonable judge would have reached the same

conclusion." State v. Hopson, 113 Wn.2d 273, 284, 778 P.2d 1014 (1989)

(citing Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp., 112 Wn.2d 636, 667, 771 P.2d 711

(199)). The defendant cannot meet that standard here.

Despite the failure of the defendant's attempt to rely on the

principle that an accused should not normally appear in a court proceeding

with restraints, the State is not suggesting that other legal principles cannot

serve to regulate the taking of depositions. For prior testimony to be

admissible under the confrontation clause and ER 804(b)(1), the witness

must be unavailable and tr~e defendant must have had a prior opportunity

and similar motive to cross-examine the witness. See State v. Beiu1, 161

Wn.2d 256, 265, 165 P.3d 1232 (2007). Thus, it ~~vould seem to be

axiomatic that the right to counsel would attach to the taking of a

deposition if the deposition. is going to be admissible in lieu of live

testimony. See State v. Everybodvtalksabout, 161 Wn.2d 702; 708, 166

P.3d 693 (2007) ("The United States Supreme Court has interpreted the
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right [to counsel] to apply ̀ whenever necessary to assure a meaningful

defense."') (citing United Mates v: Wade, 388 U.S. 218; 225, 87 S. Ct.

1926, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1149 (1967)). Here, the defendant does not contest

that Knight was unavailable and that he had a similar motive, and did,

fully and completely cross-examine Knight.

The use of restrains in some instances can impermissibly infringe

an a defendant's right to counsel. See Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 344,

90 S. Ct. 1057, 25 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1970) ("one of the defendant's primary

advantages of being present at the trial, his ability to communicate with

his counsel, is greatly reduced when the defendant is in a condition of total

physical restraint"). Here, the defendant asserts that his right to counsel

was violated because he was unable to communicate with counsel: The

problem with this claim is that there are no facts in the record to support it.

While the defendant's trial counsel made many post-deposition allegations

of fact (many of which were highly disputed, if not outright refuted), he

did not substantiate his allegations with any. evidence. The defendant did

not testify that he was so restrained he could not write or commui3icate

with counsel. The defendant also did not submit ~n affidavit ave=-ring to

such. Additionally, the actual physical limitations of the defendant were

never shown to the court in any manner, not in person, on video, by

photograph, by demonstration or by physical evidence such as bringing
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similar restraints into court. In short, there was no evidence before the

court for the trial court to rake a factual finding that the defendar_t was so

restrained that his constitutional right to counsel had been viol~tee~:

A trial court's factual findings are reviewed for substantial

evidence. State v. Griffith, 164 Wn.2d 960, 965, 195 P.3d 506 (2008).

Factual findings are erroneous where nat supported by substantial

evidence in the record. Fisch, 137 Wn.2d at 856: Substantial evidence

exists where there is a sufficient quantity of evide~~lce in the record to

persuade afair-minded, rational person of the truth of the finding. Id.

Here,' Judge Rogers specifically found that the record before him

was insufficient to make factual findings. 16RP 48, 51. Tnexplic~rly, .

Jude Rogers then stated that he must thus presume that the defendant

could not take notes or write. 16RP 48. There is no legal basis for tre

court to have made this factual presumption and to the extent that it

amounts to a finding of fact, it is not supported by "substantial evidence"

and is thus erroneous.
25

In addition, defense counsel's post-deposition assertion that his

client could not communicate with him at all because if.he m.oveci, the

25 Even defense counsePs bare ~:llegations varied and were insufficient. I'or example, as

stated in the fact section above,•it is unclear how many linking of chain er tiow long the

chain was from the belly chain iu the handcuffs. Ftuther, belly chains are not tightly

secured around the waist, and e_,ch set of handcuffs attached to his wris+s would add

additional length. From the record, it is absolutely impossible to determine ho~.v far fiom

his body the defendant could move his hands or what his actual abiiities were.
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chains made noise that woald be picked up on the video is both dubious,

not supported by any. facts, and is something that if true, was totally and

completely within his control to correct.

The claim was dub~,ous considering defense counsel. repeatedly told

the court that the rattling of chains could be heard on the video but neither

Judge Rogers nor Judge Ll~yle, or the prosecutor who was present at the

deposition and listened to t~.1e video, heard anything that sounded like

chains. Defense counsel a~.so claimed that he could be heard on the video

telling his client.not to move because his chains made noise, but again,

nobody else appeared to be able to hear this. And other than counsel's

bare assertion, no evidence was presented to Judge Rogers or on appeal

supporting this factual assertion.

Additionally, whether considered invited error,26 waiver,27 or

simply evidence that the defendant was not really prevented from

communicating with counsel, the defendant and defense counsel coup

have taken a myriad of actions that would have alleviated the problem of

verbal communication beirg inhibited, First, they could have brought it to

Z6 The invited error doctrine prohibits a party from setting u~ an error at trial and then

complaining of it on appeal. City of Seattle v. Patu, 147 Wn.2d 717, 720, 58 P,3d 273,

274 (2002). Even constitutional error can fall under the invited error doctrine. State v.

Henderson, 114 Wn.2d 867, 868-70, 792 P.2d 514 (1990).

27 The failure to oUject generally bars review. See State v. PJilliams; 159 ~'Vn, App. 298,

312, 244 P.3d 1018, rev. denied, 171 Wn.2d 1025 (2011). An objection gives the trial

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